THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JAN 12 2022

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT SC Court of Appeals

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001149

Russell Mawyer, #139176,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole, and Pardon Services,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Russell Lee Mawyer
SCDC# 139176
Perry C.I., Q4A 221
430 Oaklawn Road
Pelzer, S.C. 29669

Other Counsel of Record
Matthew C. Buchanan,
Esquire
General Counsel, SCDPPPS
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, S.C. 29202

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT FAIL TO ADDRESS AND RULE ON THE ISSUE RAISED BY APPELLANT THAT THE PAROLE BOARD GEOSSLY ABUSED IT'S DISCRETION WHEN IT DECIDED TO ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY DENY APPELLANT PAROLE FOR THE THIRD TIME USING THE EXACT SAME FIXED (UNCHANGEABLE) JUSTIFICATIONS IN A ROTE FASHION, WHEN THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE BEFORE IT SHOWING THAT APPELLANT HAD SATISFIED THE CRITERIA SET BY THE S.C. LEGISLATURE IN §24-21-640 OF THE S.C. PENAL CODE FOR PAROLE; AND THAT THE PAROLE BOARD DEVIATED FROM THE PROCEDURE PROMULGATED BY THE S.C. LEGISLATURE IN §24-21-640 AND ITS INTENT, WHEN THE PAROLE BOARD RENDERED IT'S DECISION DENYING APPELLANT PAROLE?
2. DID THE ALC ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PAROLE BOARD'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S PAROLE WAS A "ROUTINE" DENIAL OF PAROLE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to the appeal of Russell Lee Mawyer of the Order of Administrative Law Judge H.W. Funderburk, Jr. dated September 14, 2021 affirming the final decision of the Respondent's parole board. (R.pp.122-125)

On January 19, 1987, after pleading guilty to the offense of murder in the General Sessions Court of Pickens County, Appellant was sentenced to life with parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years pursuant to S.C. Code §16-3-20(A)(Supp.1987)

Appellant's first appearance before the parole board was on January 11, 2017, where the board denied him parole stating the following FINDINGS OF FACT:

- Nature and seriousness of current offense.
- Indication of violence in this or previous offense.
- Use of deadly weapon in this or previous offense. (R.p.2)

Since his initial appearance before the parole board on January 11, 2017 and denial, Appellant has appeared before the parole board twice more, the last being on April 14, 2021, and each time the parole board denied his parole request, stating the exact same FINDINGS OF FACT in all three denial letters, why he was being denied parole. (R.pp.3-4)

Appellant requested a reconsideration of his April 15, 2021 parole denial, but was denied by letter dated April 29, 2021. (R.p.136)

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal dated May 17, 2021 to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court, appealing the parole board's denial of his request for parole. Appellant's case was assigned to Hon. Judge H.W. Funderburk, Jr., who by Order dated September 14, 2021 dismissed Appellant's appeal. (R.pp.122-125)

ARGUMENT

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT (ALC) FAILED TO ADDRESS AND RULE ON THE ISSUE RAISED BY APPELLANT THAT THE PAROLE BOARD GROSSLY ABUSED IT'S DISCRETION WHEN IT DECIDED TO ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY DENY APPELLANT PAROLE FOR THE THIRD TIME USING THE EXACT SAME FIXED (UNCHANGEABLE) JUSTIFICATIONS IN A ROTE FASHION, WHEN THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE BEFORE IT SHOWING THAT APPELLANT HAD SATISFIED THE CRITERIA SET BY THE S.C. LEGISLATURE IN §24-21-640 OF THE S.C. PENAL CODE FOR PAROLE; AND THAT THE PAROLE BOARD DEVIATED FROM THE PROCEDURES PROMULGATED BY THE S.C. LEGISLATURE IN §24-21-640 AND ITS INTENT, WHEN THE PAROLE BOARD RENDERED IT'S DECISION DENYING APPELLANT PAROLE.

Appellant submits that the essential issue of his appeal is not the "routine" denial of parole, but that the parole board deviated from the procedures promulgated by the S.C. Legislature in §24-21-640 of the S.C. Penal Code and its intent, when for the third time the parole board denied Appellant parole using only the crimes for which he was convicted, as justifications to do so. (R.pp.2-4) There was substantial evidence before the parole board, and before the ALC, showing that Appellant has satisfied the criteria set by the Legislature in §24-21-640 for the parole board to determine, to their satisfaction, whether or not to grant parole, (R.pp.5-110) but the parole board ignored this substantial evidence before it and arbitrarily and capriciously denied Appellant parole for the third time using only factors which can never change.

The arbitrariness of their decision is made clear by the Respondent's own words in it's Initial Brief before the ALC, where they asserted that "the Board is always authorized to grant parole each time Appellant appears before it; a denial at one parole hearing does not operate to deny parole at a future hearing." (R.p.119) This statement of admission by the Respondent makes it clear that the parole board's decision was not based upon any consideration or course of reasoning and exercise of judgment within the context of the determining principles and

fixed rules or standards set by the S.C. Legislature in §24-21-640.

Black's Law Dictionary, 11th ed.(2019) defines arbitrary as "of, relating to, or involving a determination made without consideration of or regard for the facts, circumstances, fixed rules, or procedures." The decision of the parole board denying Appellant parole for the third time using the exact same fixed (unchangeable) justifications in a rote fashion, was clearly not based on the facts concerning Appellant's record before them, the circumstances surrounding his imprisonment or after his imprisonment; or on the fixed rules (criteria) set by the Legislature in §24-21-640.

If, as the Respondent state in it's Initial Brief before the ALC, that a denial at one parole hearing does not preclude Appellant from successfully obtaining parole at a future parole hearing, the question becomes "what then will the parole board base it's decision on to grant Appellant parole at this future parole hearing?" If the same facts surrounding Appellant's record before and after his imprisonment exists before them, at this future parole hearing, which they also had before them at all the previous hearings where they denied his parole, how can this not be arbitrary and capricious decision making by the parole board? Black's Law Dictionary, 11th ed.(2019) defines capricious as "(Of a person) characterized by or guided by unpredictable or impulsive behavior; likely to change one's mind suddenly or to behave in unexpected ways." The facts in the record at Appellant's parole hearings remains the same, it is the parole board's decisions which are changing in unpredictable, impulsive and unexpected ways, not based on the criteria set by the Legislature in §24-21-640, but arbitrarily based on how the parole board feels that day.

Appellant acknowledges that the parole board has the sole discretion to decide whether or not to grant or deny parole. However, as the Court made clear in Cooper v. S.C.Dep't of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs., 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106(2008),

"the Legislature created this Board to operate within certain parameters." These parameters were set by the Legislature when they enacted Chapter 21 of the S.C. Penal Code §24. It may be lawful for the parole board to deny parole using the fixed (unchangeable) justifications: the nature and seriousness of Appellant's current offense (Appellant has no prior offense), the use of a deadly weapon, and the indication of violence. What Appellant is arguing is that, it becomes a gross abuse of their discretion and a deviation from the procedures promulgated by the Legislature in §24-21-640, to use these same fixed justifications over and over again to deny parole, when there is substantial evidence before it which shows that Appellant falls within the criteria set by the Legislature in §24-21-640 for parole to be granted within the discretion of the parole board.

When the S.C. Legislature set the criteria for parole to be granted within the discretion of the parole board in §24-21-640, it set the parameters within which the parole board is supposed to exercise it's discretion when determining whether or not to grant parole. As public officials or employees, the discretion of the parole board is to act and make decisions based on his or her own judgment or conscience within the bounds of reason and the law (parameters) set by the S.C. Legislature, and any deviation outside these bounds (parameters) amounts to an abuse of discretion.

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING
THAT THE PAROLE BOARD'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S
PAROLE, WAS A "ROUTINE" DENIAL OF PAROLE.

Appellant further submits that a "routine" denial of parole in which the Court envisioned in Cooper and Compton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs., 392 S.C. 361, 709 S.E.2d 639 (2011), is a denial in which the parole board actually examines Appellant's record before, during and after his imprisonment within the context of the criteria (parameters) set by the Legislature in §24-21-640 and determine to their satisfaction

whether or not Appellant "has shown a disposition to reform; that, in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and, that suitable employment has been secured for him." Had the parole board actually complied with this procedure, it would have examined Appellant's record before it within these criteria (parameters), and would have found that Appellant's record before them answers all these questions in the affirmative.

The arbitrary and capriciousness of the parole board's decision, which Appellant has shown, denying him parole for the third time using the exact same fixed (unchangeable) justifications in a rote fashion, ignoring the facts in the Appellant's record before them, proves that the parole board deviated from the procedure promulgated by the S.C. Legislature in §24-21-640 and its intent, and rendered a decision outside of what the Court in Cooper and Compton envisioned to constitute a "routine" denial of parole.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons and legal authorities, Appellant prays for an Order reversing and vacating the Order of Administrative Law Judge H.W. Funderburk, Jr. affirming the Respondent's final decision denying him parole, not as a routine denial of parole, but as a deviation from the procedure promulgated by the S.C. Legislature in §24-21-640, and a gross abuse of their discretion.

JAN. 10th 2022
DATE

OTHER COUNSEL OF RECORD
Matthew C. Buchanan, Esquire
General Counsel, SCDPPPS
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, S.C. 29202