STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Harold W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge
Docket Number 21-ALJ-15-0010-AP

JAN 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001149

RUSSELL MAWYER, #139176.....APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew C. Buchanan
General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 20202
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the ALC err when it determined the Board properly consider all of the mandatory criteria as set forth in Cooper thereby making Appellant's denial of parole routine?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 27, 1986, in Easley, S.C., Appellant entered without consent the dwelling of Victim 1, his wife, and Victim 2 while armed with a shotgun. While inside, Appellant shot and killed Victim 3, and shot at Victim 1 but missed. Appellant was later charged and arrested for Murder, Burglary 1st Degree, and Assault with Intent to Kill. On January 19, 1987, Appellant entered a plea of guilty before the Honorable Victor C. Pyle Jr., who sentenced him to life imprisonment for the murder and burglary charges, and ten years for the assault. Because of the aggravating factor of burglary, the Appellant was required to serve thirty years before becoming parole eligible.

Appellant became parole eligible in September, 2016. Since that time, Appellant has appeared before the Board three times with Appellant's most recent review being held April 14, 2021. Following Appellant's most recent appearance, the Board voted unanimously to deny Appellant's parole based on the nature and seriousness of Appellant's offense, use of a deadly weapon, and an indication of violence. (R.p. 132).

Upon being informed of his denial of parole, Appellant submitted a request for a rehearing to the Board, which was denied on April 29, 2021. (R.p.133-p.136). Subsequently, he filed a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court (ALC). In his appeal, Appellant alleged the Board abused its discretion in denying Appellant parole a third time using the same grounds for denial as his previous denials. The Honorable H. W. Funderburk, Jr., dismissed the appeal, determining that the ALC has no authority to review or reverse a routine denial of parole to an otherwise parole-eligible inmate. (R.p. 122- p.125).

The Appellant now appeals Judge Funderburk's decision, arguing that the ALC erred when it failed to address or rule upon the claim that the Parole Board abused its discretion when there

was evidence that Appellant met the criteria for parole consideration. The Respondent would respectfully submit that the ALC did not err, and followed the requirements set forth by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Cooper and Compton. This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases the appellate court sits to review errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. When reviewing a case involving the permanent denial of parole, the ALC sits in an appellate capacity. Furtick v. S.C. Dept. of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs., 352 S.C. 594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2004). Under the appellate standard of the Administrative Procedures Act, the ALC's review is limited to the record, absent irregularities in the procedure of the agency. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(4). Additionally, the court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may modify or reverse the decision of the agency when substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5). Furthermore, the ALC may not hear an appeal involving the denial of parole to an otherwise parole-eligible inmate. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(D).

In an appeal from an ALC decision, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the standard of review. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610(B). This Court may only reverse the decision of the ALC if that decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;

- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Id. “The [C]ourt may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the [ALC] as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” *Id.* In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, this Court need only find, looking at the entire record on appeal, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached. Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9–10, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010).

ARGUMENTS

1. **The ALC did not err in dismissing the appeal because the Board properly considered the criteria set forth in Cooper in reaching its decision, thereby making this a routine denial of parole.**

Appellant argues that the ALC did not address the issue he raised on appeal, that the Board abused its discretion when it denied parole for the third time using the same reason as it did in the previous denials. He also alleges that he satisfied the criteria of parole consideration in S.C. Code § 24-21-640.

The Respondent submits the ALC properly dismissed the appeal because it determined that the procedures followed by the Board in evaluating Appellant's request for parole, and the criteria considered by the Board were proper and conformed with the South Carolina Supreme Court's holding in Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008).

The notice of rejection from the Board shows the Board properly considered all of the statutorily required criteria and followed the proper procedure as set forth in Cooper in arriving at their decision to deny Appellant parole, thereby making Appellant's denial of parole routine. (R.p.132). An inmate does not have a right to parole, only parole consideration,¹ and the Board grants or denies parole in its absolute discretion.² The ALC determined the Board followed the requirements in Cooper, and therefore properly dismissed the appeal.

In Cooper, the Board denied Cooper's parole based on the following three reasons: "1) the nature and seriousness of the current offense; 2) an indication of violence in this or previous offense; and 3) the use of a deadly weapon in this or a previous offense." Cooper, 377 S.C. at 499, 661 S.E.2d at 111. The Court found the Board, "failed to consider the requisite statutory criteria in rendering its decision" and "only considered the nature of Cooper's crime when it rejected his request based on three limited reasons." Id. at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112. However, the Court went on to state:

We emphasize that in future parole review hearings the Parole Board may avoid the result in the instant case if it clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form. If the Board complies with this procedure the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.

Id.

Here, on April 15, 2021, the Board issued a rejection letter enumerating the following factors it carefully considered in arriving at their decision to deny Appellant parole: 1) the

¹ Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 127 N. 4 (2003).

² "[N]o such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board..." S.C. Code 24-21-640.

characteristics of your current offense(s), prior offenses(s), prior supervision history, prison disciplinary record, and/or criminal record, as described in the findings of facts below; 2) the factors published in Department Form 1212 (R.p.131); 3) the factors outlined in Section 24-21-640 of the South Carolina Code of Laws; and 4) actuarial risk and needs assessment factors pursuant to Section 24-21-10(F)(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (R.p.132).

The rejection letter then listed the Board's findings of fact, which were the nature and seriousness of the offense, use of a deadly weapon, and indication of violence in this or previous offense. The vote to deny parole was unanimous. (R.132).

Appellant argues that the Board's findings operate as a permanent denial of parole because they cannot be changed. As the ALC properly determined, the Board considered Appellant for parole and will consider him again. (R.p.122-p.125). This being correct, the ALC did not err in dismissing the appeal.

2. The ALC did not err in concluding the Board's denial of parole was routine.

Appellant also alleges that the Board denied his parole "in rote fashion."³ However, this is in direct contradiction to the Board's statement – and the requirement of Cooper – that the Board carefully considered all of the mandatory criteria, including the factors in Form 1212 (Criteria for Parole Consideration) (R.p.131), those found in Section 24-21-640, and the actuarial risk and needs assessment. As Cooper held, the information in the parole rejection letter is all that must be provided for this Court to affirm the decision of the Board. Since the Board's order clearly states

³ Appellant's Brief, P. 7.

a lawful reason for denial, the criteria within the statute, and that mandatory policies were considered prior to the denial, no further action by the ALC is necessary.⁴

Further, the Board reviews all of the information presented to make a determination as to whether an inmate will be granted parole. The Board's decision to deny parole based on the nature and seriousness of the offense, indication of violence, and use of a deadly weapon is not unlawful, nor does it preclude Appellant from successfully obtaining parole in the future as that is only one factor among many other issues considered by the Board in their evaluation. The Board citing the circumstances surrounding Appellant's offense as justification, in part, for denying Appellant parole, is proper and cannot be considered an error of law; especially since the Board considered all the factors as set forth in Cooper in reaching their unanimous decision.

"The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." S.C. Code §1-23-380(5) (2008). It is clear by the letter of rejection that the Board considered all of the mandatory criteria as set forth in Cooper and placed their reasons for denial in writing. Thus, the ALC properly dismissed the appeal pursuant to Cooper and Compton. Since the Board's order clearly stated a lawful reason for denial, the criteria within the statute, and that mandatory policies were considered prior to the denial, no further action by the ALC was necessary. Therefore, this Court should affirm the decision of the ALC.

CONCLUSION